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United States of America,

\Z
D-2 Alphons Tacobelli,

Défendant.

United States District Court
Eastern District of Michigan
Southern Division

~Case No. 17-cr-20406

" Honorable Paul D. Borman

Offenses:

Count One: Conspiracy to Violate
the Labor Management Relations
Act (18 U.S.C. § 371)

Count Seven: Subscribing a False
Tax Return (26 U.S.C. § 7206(1))

Maximum Imptisonment:
Count One: 5 years
Count Seven: 3 years
Maximum Fine:

Count One: - $250,000

Count Seven: $100,000

‘Maximum Supervised Release:

Count One: - 3 years
Count Seven: 1 year

Rule 11 Plea Agreement
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Pursuant to Rule 11 of the Federal Rﬁleé of Criminal Procedure, defendant
Alphons Tacobelli and the government agree as follows:
L Guilty Plea
"A.  Counts of Conviction
Défendant Alphons Iacobelli will enter-a plea of guilty to Count One and
Count Seven of the First Superseding Indictment.
Count One of the First Superseding Indictment charges conspiracy to violate
the Labor Management Relations Act, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371.
Count Seven of the First Superseding Indictment charges subscribing a false
tax return, in rviolation of 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1). |
Elements of the Offenses
The elements of conspiracy to violate the Labor Management Relations Act;
as charged in Count One of the First Sﬁperseding Indictment, afe as follows:
(1) Two or more persons conspired to violate the Labor Management
Relations Act in violation of 29 U.S.C. § 186(a)(2), (b)(1), and (d)(1).
(2)  The defendant knowingly and voluntarily joined the conspiracy.
(3) A member of the conspiracy did one of the overt acts described in the
First Superseding Indictment for the purpose of advancing or helping the

conspiracy.
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The elements of subscribingla false tax return, as chargedin Count Seven of
the First Superseding Indictment, are as follows:
| (1)  The defendant made and subscribed a return, statement, or document
containiﬁg a written declaration made under penalty of perjury;
(2)  The defendant knew that the return, statement, or document was false
as to a material matter; and

(3) The defendant did so with the specific, willful intent to violate the law.

B.  Factual Basis for Guilty Pleas

The following facts are a sufficient and accurate basis for Defendant
Alphons Iacobelli’s guilty plea to Count One:

Between in or befoﬁe January 2009 and continuing through in or after June
2015, Alphons Tacobelli knowingly and Volunta}:’ily joined a conspiracy in which
Fiat Chrysler Automobiles US LLC and its executives agreed to pay and deliver,
and willfully paid and delivered, more than $1.5 million in prohibited payments and
things.of value to officers and employees of the UAW., |

Relevant Organizations

1. . Fiat Chrysler Automobiles US LL.C was an automotive company based

in Auburn Hills, Michigan, and the successor to the automotive company formerly

known as Chrysler Group L.L.C. Both are referred to here as “IFCA.” FCA is the

23
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_United States operating subsidiary of Fiat Chrysler Automobiles NV, a publicly

traded organization listed on the New York Stock Exchange. FCA manufactured
and sold automobiles in the United States under brands such as Chrysler, Jeep,
Dodge, and Ram. FCA was an employer in an industry affecting interstate
commerce,

2. The International Union, United Automobile, Aerospace, and
Agriculfural Implement Workers of America (UAW) was a labor organization
based in Detroit, Michigan. The UAW represented tens of thoﬁsands of non-
maﬁagerial employees employed by FCA at numerous locations in Michigan and
across the .United States.

3. The UAW—Chrysler Skill Development & Training Program d/b/a the
UAW-Chrysler National ‘Training Center (NTC) was a tax-exempt corporation
based in Detroit, Michigan. The NTC purported to function as a labor management
committee under the Labor Management Labor Relations Act, 29 US.C. |
§ 186(c)(9). The stated purpose of the NTC was to provide for the education‘,
training, and refraining of workers.

Collective Bargaining Agreements between FCA and the UAW

4. Approximately évery four years FCA and the UAW engaged in

national negotiations resulting in collective bargaining agreements that set Wéges,
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attendance policies, profit sharing, ratification bonuses, holidays, and other working
conditions for FCA' employees represe.nted by the UAW.:

5. In 2011 and 2015, FCA and the UAW held national negotiation
sessions that resulted in ratified collective bargaining agreeinents covering tens of
thousands of FCA employees represented by the UAW.

Conspiracy to Violate the Labor Management Relations Act

6.  From 2008 until he retired in June 2015, Alphons Iacobelli was the
FCA Vice President for Employee Relations. As the FCA Vice President for
e Employee Relations, Alphons Iacobelli was FCA’s lead representative for labor
relations and had lead responsibility for managing FCA’s relationship with the
UAW. Alphons Iacobelli was the senior FCA official responsible_ for negotiating
with the UAW and for administering the collective bargaining agreements‘ between
FCA and the UAW, including the resolution of diéputes and grievances that arose
under the collective bargaining agreements between FCA and the UAW.

7. Between in or before January 2009 and continuing through in or after
June 2015, Alphons Iacobelli knowingly and voluntarily joined a conspiracy in
which FCA and FCA egcecutiifes and FCA employees agreed to f\Jay and deliver, and
w:illfuﬂy paid and delivered, money and things of value to officers and employees
of the UAW. As part of that conspiracy, Alphons Tacobelli and other FCA

executives and FCA employees acting in the interest of employer FCA used the

-5
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bank accounts and credit card accounts of t_hé. NTC to benefit officers and
employees of the UAW, knowing that those individuals were not permitted to
receive the money and other things of value.

8. Over the course of the conspiracy, FCA Vice President Alphons
Iacobelli, FCA Director FCA-7, FCA Senior Manager FCA-11, FCA Financial
Analyst Jerome Durden, and other FCA executives and employees, unlawfully paid
and delivered more than $1.5 million in prohibited payments and things of value
directly and indirectly to UAW Vice President General Holiefield, UAW Assistant
Director Virdeﬂ King, UAW Official UAW-2, UAW Official UAW-3, UAW |
| Official UAW-4 and other UAW officials. The prohibited payments and things of

value included paying off the mortgage on the personalA residence of a UAW Vice
President, personall travel, designer clothing, cases of custom-labeled wine;
furniture, jewelry, and custom-made watches.

9. As part of the same conspiracy, FCA Vice President Alphons
Iacobelli and other FCA executives and FCA employees transferred hundreds of
thousands of dollars in prohibited payments from FCA, through the NTC, into tax-
exempt organizations controlled by UAW officials, including the Leave the Light
On Foundation and the Making Our Children Smile Foundation, among others.

10.  As part of the same conspiracy, FCA Vice President Alphons

Iacobelli and other FCA executives and FCA employees authorized the regular

-6-
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transfer of hundreds of thousands of riollars from the NTC to the UAW, purportedly
as reimbursement fOr the salaries of UAW employees assigned to the NTC. In fact,
' many of those UAW employees provided no services to the NTC. The salary
reimbursements, along with a fraudulent 7% administrative fee, were authorized by
FCA executives as a political gift to the Vice Presidents of the UAW Chrysler
Department, and were paid for using funds provided by FCA.

11.  FCA Vice President Alphons Yacobelli, FCA Director FCA-7, FCA
Senior Men-ager FCA-11, FCA Financial Analyst Jerome Durden, FCA and other |
co-conspirators acting in the interest of employer FCA paid and delivered more
than $1.5 million in prohibited payments and things of value to UAW officers and
UAW employees in an effort to obtain benefits, concessions, and advantages for
FCA 1n the negotiation, implementation, and administration of the collective
bargaining agreements between FCA and the UAW. |

Overt Acts

12.  One or more members of the conspiracy completed one or more of the
following overt acts to effect the object of the conspiracy:

13. In Seprember 2009, FCA Vice President Alphons Tacobelli met with
FCA Director FCA-7, FCA Senior Manager FCA-11, and FCA Financial Analyst
Jerome Durden to review spending of NTC funds. During that meeting, Alphons

Tacobelli explained that cost cutting was no longer needed at the NTC and that it

-7 -
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was time to consider funding for selected “high Valtie/high leverage programs.”
Alphons Iaéobeili identified a $50,000 transfer to UAW Vice President General
Holiefield’s Leave the Light On Foundation as one of four such “high value/high
leverage” expenditures.

14. In Febmary 2010, another FCA executi{fe gave a custom-made Terra
Cielo Mare watch to UAW Vice President General Holiefield. Along with the Terra
Cielo Mare watch was a hand-written note from the FCA executive that stated
“Dear General, I declared the goods at less than fifty bucks. That should remove
any potential conflict. Best regards, and see you soon,” |

15.  In May 2011, FCA Vice President Alphoils Tacobelli authorized the
expenditure of more than $2,100 to pay for first-class airline fravel for Monica
Morgan, the girlfriend of UAW Vice President General Ioliefield. The ﬁrst-claés
airfare was paid for by the NTC using funds provided by FCA.

16.  InMay 2011, FCA Vice President Alphons Iacobelli sent an email to
FCA Financial Analyst Jerome Durden cautioning Durden not to put the details of
certain expenditures made for the benefit of UAW Vice President General
Holiefield in writing.

17.  In 2011 and 2012, FCA Vice President Alphons Iacobelli and other
FCA executives and employees authorized and directed the expenditure of more

than $435,000 to a company called Wilson’s Diversified Products, also known as

-8 -
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Wilson Diversifed Products, which was owned and controlled by UAW Vice
President General Holiefield and his girlfriend and later wife, Monica Morgan.
The payments to Wilson Diversified Products were made by thé NTC using funds
provided by FCA. | |

18.  Between 2012 and June 2015, FCA Vice President Alphons acobelli
authorized the expenditure of more than $450,000 to pay for personal pufchases
made by UAW Vice President General Holiefield and other UAW officials on .their
NTC-issued credit cards. FCA Vice President Alphons Iacebelli encouraged and
authorized UAW Vice President General Holiefield, UAW Assistant Director
Virdell King, UAW Official UAW-2, UAW Official UAW-3, UAW Official UAW-
4, and other UAW officials to purchase items such as jewelry, furniture, electronics,
designer clothing, and other personal items using their NTC credit cards. | The
purchases of personal items and other persoﬁal expenses were paid for by the NTC
using funds provided by FCA.

19.  InDecember 2013, FCA Vice President Alphons Tacobelli sent an
email to ano‘_ther FCA executive conﬁrmiﬁg that UAW Vice President General
Holiefield had been “scripted” in advance of a schedﬁled meeting between
Holiefield and other members of the UAW’s International Executive Board.
Tacobelli told the other FCA executive that, during the upcoming meeting, UAW

Vice President General Holiefield would “create a dialogue pursuant to our

-9
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outline.” At the time of the December 2013 email, members of the UAW
International Execﬁtive Board were considering the terms of a multi-billion dollar
offer to purchase the equity interest held by the UAW Retiree Medical Benefits
Trust in Chrysler Group LLC; subsequehtly known .as FCA. That transaction was
completed in January of 2014. |

20.  In June 2014; FCA Vice President Alphons Iacobelli authorized the
expenditure of $262,219.71 to pay off the mortgage on the residence of UAW Vice
President General Holiefield and Monica Morgan in Harrison Toﬁnship, Michigan.
- The mortgage was paid off with a check issued by the NTC using funds provided by
FCA. | |

21.  In August 2014, FCA Vice President Alphons Iacobelli authorized the |
expenditure of more than $30,000 for a party for UAW official UAW-3 held at the
FCA-UAW World Class Manufacturing Academy in Warren, Michiéan. The
expendituré included chargeé for “ultra-premium” liquor, more than $7,000 worth
of cigars, and more than $3,000 worth of wine with custom labels in honor of
UAW-3. The expenses were paid for by thé NTC using funds provided by FCA.

22.  In February and March of 2015, FCA Vice President Alphons
Tacobelli and other FCA executives and ¢émployees, inc.iudir‘lg FCA Senior Manager
FCA-10, offered to pﬁy $50,000 each to select UAW officials under the guise of

bogus “settlement agreements.” The terms of those agreements stated that the

_10-
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payments were fo be confidential and that FCA would not pay the $50,000 “if it
were unable to avoid public disclosure” of the arrangements.

23.  OnFebruary 18, 2015, at the‘direc.tion of FCA Vice President Alphons
Tacobelli, FCA Senior Manager FCA-10 sent an email to UAW Official UAW-4
offering that FCA would make lump sum payments of $50,000 to select UAW |
officials as a “one-time non-precedent setting” retirement offer, To ensure that the
rank and file UAW members Wogld not be made aware of the $50,000 payments
offered only to senior UAW officials, FCA-10 assured UAW-4: “My people will |
process the transactions to keep them out of the plants.”

* * *

The folloWing facts are a sufficient and accurate basis for defendant Alphons
Tacobelli’s guilty plea to Count Seven of the First Superseding Indictment:

24, -From in and before Janvary 1, 2009 through June of 201 ’_5', Alphons
Tacobelli served as the Co-Chairman of the NTC. Alphons Iacobelli held that
position at the NTC in his capacity as the FCA Vice President for Employee
Relationé.

25. Befweén 2011 and 2015, Alphons Iacobelli received hundreds of
thousands of dollars in compeﬁsation from the NTC, which compensation was
- falsely and frandulently omitted from tax returns filed with the Internal Revenue

Service.

-11 -
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26.  On or about March 19, 2015, Alphons Iacobélli, a resident of
Rochester Hills, Michigan, willfully made and subscribed a false Form 1040
Individual Income Tax Return for calendar year 2014, verified by a written
declaration that it was made under the penalties of perjury, and caused it to be filed
with the Internal Revenue Service. At the time he signed and subscribed the 2014 |
IRS Form 1040 Return, Alphens Iacobelli did not believe the return to be true and
correct as to every materiél matter, in that the return failed to repbrt additional
iﬁcome, in the amouht of $861,927, that Alphons Iacobelli received in calendar

year 2014,

II.  Sentencing Guidelines

A.  Standard of Proof

The parties agree that the Coutt will determine all sentencing factors by a
preponderance of the evideﬁce.

B. Agreed Guideline Range

The parties agree on all sentencing factors except the following: -

1. If the offense of conviction charged in Count Seven involved
“sophisticated means” within the definition of USSG § 2T1.1(b)(2).

The government takes-the position that the defendant’s offense of conviction
charged in Count Seven falls within the definition of sophisti‘cated means and that

defendant’s base offense level on that offense should be increased by 2 levels
12- ’
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pursuant to USSG § 2T1.1(b)(2). Defend'anf Alph-ons.lacobelli reserves his right
to contest the application of USSG § Zfl.l(b)(Z).

The pérties agree that the Court shﬁll determine this and aﬁl sentence
guideline factofs by a preponderance of the evidence and further agree to be bound
by -the Court’s determination. |

The government takes the position that the defendant’s advisory sentencing
guideline range is 97—-121 months which, by operation of the statutory maximum

-penalties for the offenses of conviction, becomes 96 months. If the Court finds:
1. that defendant’s criminal history category is higher than reflected
on the attached worksheets, or
2. that the offense level should be higher bécause, after pleading
guilty, defendant made any false statemeﬁt to or withheld
information from his -probationofﬁcer; otherwis¢ demonstrated a‘
lack of acceptance of responsibility for his offéﬁses; or obstructed
‘ justice or committ;ed any crime,
and if any such finding results in a higher guideline range higher, the higher
| guideline range becomes the advisory sentencing guideliné range in this rﬁatter.
III. Sentence
The Court will impose a sentence'pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3553, and in doing

so must consider the sentencing guideline range.

-13 -
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A, Imprisonment:
~ Pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11(c)(1)(C) fhe sentence of

imprisonment in this case may not exceed 96 months. Tﬁe paﬁies ﬁ:lrthér agree
that 96 months is the statutory maximum penaltgf that can be imposed based upon
the offenses éf conviction.

B.  Supervised Release

A term of supervised release, if imposed, follows the term of imprisonment.
There is no agreement on supervised release. In other words, the Court may impose
any term of superﬁsed release up to the statutory maximum term, which in this case
is not more than three years. The agreement concerning imprisonment described
above in Paragraph 3A does not apply to any term of imprisonment that fesults
from any later revocation of supervised release.

C. Special Assessment

Defendant will pay a special assessment of $200.

D. Fine

There is no agreement as to fines.

E. Restitution

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3663, the parties agree that restitution payable to the
Us. Departfnent of the Treaéury shall be imposed in this matter in the amount of

not less than $835,523, which figure represents additional federal income taxes due

- 14 -
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and owing to the Internal Revenue Service by defendant Alphons Iacobelli for tax
years 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015. The restitution amount of $835,523 may be |
increased by any interest and assessable penalties due and owing as calculated by
the U.S. Probation departrhent.

F.  Preparation of Tax Returns and Calculation and
Payment of Taxes Due and Owing

(i) Not later than 14 days from entry of his guilty plea, defendant Alphons
Tacobelli will provide the IRS Exanﬁnetion Division with a true and accurate IRS
Form 4549 and a true and accurate IRS Form 870 for the years 2012 through 2015
inclusive by delivering signed copies of such documents to: IRS-CI Special Agent
Michael ?etroske, 985 Michigan Avenue, Room 251, Detroit, Michigan 48226.

(i) As a condition of and at -least 90 days prior to the expiration of sny term
of probation or supervised release imposed herein, defendant Alphons Iacobelli
shall in good faith file true and correct amended individual IRS Form 1040 income
tax returns for the tax years 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015.

(iii) Defendant Alphons Iacobelli shall furthe: cooperate fully and in good
faith with the Internal Revenue Service in defermining his correct tax liebility,
including, any assessable penalties and applicable interest owed thereon, and shall
make satisfactory arrangements with the Internal Revenue Service for payment of

any unpaid taxes, penalties, and interest.

_15 -
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(iv) Defendant Alphons Iacebelli agrees that he will not seek, request or
file any claim for any refunds of any taxes, penalties or interest for the tax years
2012 through 2015, inclusive.

(v) Defendant Alphons Iacobelli shall further cooperate fully. and in good
fa_ﬁ;h with the Internal Re\}enue Service in determining the correct tax liabilities of
the NTC and any individual who received unreported income from the NTC,

‘ between 2009 and 2015, including any assessable penalties, and‘ interest owed
thereon.

(vi) Nothing in this Agreement shall limit the Tnternal Revenue Service in
its collection of any taxes, penalties or interest due from defendant Alphons
Iacobelli.

G. Forfeiture

(i) ~ Mont Blanc Pens

Defendant Alphons Iacobelli agrees that the following assets shall not be
lforfeited in this crirxﬁnal action, but shall instead be forfeited administratively

and/or liquidated under the terms of a separate written agreement between the
parties as payment towards defendant’s restitution judgment for his outstanding

income tax obligations for 2012 through 2015:

- 16 -
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1. One Mont Blanc, America’s Sign for Freedom, Abraham Lincoln thgmed
pen and the accompanying book and box, serial number 11 (“Pen SN
11”); and
2. One Mont Blanc, America’s Sign for Freedom, Abraham Lincoln themed
pen and the accompanying book and box, serial number 28 (“Pen SN
28™).
(together; the “Subje;ct Property”™).

To facilitate liquidation of the Subjeét Property, defendant agrees to secure a
withdrawal of the third party claim filed by Dr. Michael Graham for Pen SN 11.
Defendant aclmowledgeé that if he is unable to secure a withdrawal of the third
party claim for Pen SN 11, the pen shall be subject to a judicieﬂ forfeiture
proceeding. If the United States is required to include Pen SN 11 in a judicial
forfeiture proceeding, defendant shall not receive any credit for this asset towards
his restitution judgment for his outstanding income tax obligations for 2012 through
2015.

Subject to the preceding paragraph, the net proceeds from the .sale of any
Subject Property liquidated under this agreement shall be tumed over to b'e applied
toward defendant’s restitution judgment for his outstanding income tax obligations
for 2012 through 2015, as described above.

ii.  Funds in the amount of $354,000

-17 -
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Defendant Alphons Iacobelli acknowledges that funds in the amount of
$354,000 were seized in this matter on or about February 18, 2016 pursuant to a
federal seizure warrant (16-FBI-002141). Defendant further acknowledges that the |
$354,000 in funds were thereafter administratively forfeited.

As part of this agreement, defendant agrees not to contest either thé seizure or
the administrative forfeiture of the $354,000 in funds. Defendant further requests
that.the $354,000 be applied toward the restitution judgment for his outstanding
incbme tax obligations for 2012 through 2015, as described above.

In thé event that the Court enters the requested Judgment of Restitution in
favor of the United States Department of Treasury in this case, the parties agree to
suiamit a request to the U.S. Department of Justice, Criminal Division, Money
Laundering and Asset Recovery Section (“MLARS”), to rer;rlit or restore the
administratively forfeited funds to the United States Department of Treasury.
Defendant expressly acknowledges that these funds héve already been
administratively forfeited, that any request to remit or restore the funds may be
denied by MLARS, which denial will not be subject to further review, and that no
representations have been made to him by or on behalf of the U.S. Attorney’s
Office as to the likelihood that the request to MLARS will be granted.

1V. Cooperation Agreement

-18 -
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Worksheet D — Deierminiﬁg the Sentence [Page 4 of 4]

Defendant AlPhons lacobell : Docket Number 17-01-20406-02

a. Specidal Fine Provisions . Minimum Maximum

J Check box if any of the counts of conviction is for a statute with
- a special fine provision, (This does ot include the general fine
provisions of 18 USC § 3571(b)(2) & (D).

Enter the sum of statutory maximum fines forx all such counts. $350,000],

b, Eine Table (§581,2(c)(3)) $30.000 $300,000

Enter the minimum and maximum fines.

- ¢, Fine Guidellne Runge
(Determined by the minimum of the Fine Table {Ttem 16(h)) and the
greater maximum above (ftem 15(2) or 16())). $30,000 $350,000

d. Abilify fo Pay
Check this box if the defendant does not have an ability to pay,

Enter the total amormt of the statutory special assessments requived for all counts of conviction:

«  $100 for each folony count of convietion,

+ - $2b for each Class A misdemeanor count of conviction.

»  While not subject to guideline sentencing, the special assessments for a Class B misdemeanor,
and a Class C misdemeanocy or infraction are $10 and $6 per count, respectively.

TOTAL:

\ e e - ) R
Consider Chapter Five, Pavt H (Specific Offonder Characferistics) and Part K (Dapartures), and other policy
statements and commentary in the Guidelines Manual that might warrant consideration in sentencing,
(See also the “Tdst of Departure Provigions” included in the Guidelines Monual after the Index).

applicahle factors in 18 T,8.C, § 8683(a) taken as a whole.
To be presented by defendant prior to or at the time of sentencing

AUSA Bruce C. Judge Date November 1, 2017

Completed by

1.8, Senfencing Commission Worksheels {November 1, 2016}




